ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Berkeley County  
Honorable Stephanie P. McDonald, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2013-001430

---

THE STATE,

Appellant,

vs.

WALTER M. BASH

Respondent.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

SCARLETT A. WILSON  
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit

101 Meeting Street, Suite 400  
OT Wallace Building  
Charleston, SC 29401  
(843) 958-1900

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

RECEIVED

AUG 13 2014

SC Court of Appeals

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

### I.

Did the circuit court judge err in granting Bash's motion to suppress his narcotics based on an alleged violation of his Fourth Amendment rights when law enforcement officers approached Bash in a reasonable manner in an open grassy area visible from multiple public roadways and situated outside of the curtilage of a residence located on the same parcel of property before observing Bash's narcotics in plain view through the window of his truck?

### II.

Even assuming the circuit court judge correctly concluded that the open grassy area constituted part of the residence's curtilage, did the circuit court judge err in granting Bash's motion to suppress his narcotics based on an alleged violation of his Fourth Amendment rights when the officers entered the grassy area in a constitutionally-permissible and reasonable manner pursuant to the implied license that permits entry onto private property to speak with an occupant of the property before observing Bash's narcotics in plain view through the window of his truck after exigent circumstances developed?

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

In February of 2011, Respondent Walter Maurice Bash was arrested after officers located narcotics in Bash's vehicle while conducting an investigation into an anonymous tip about drug activity taking place behind a residence in Moncks Corner, South Carolina. In October of 2012, the Berkeley County grand jury indicted Bash for one count of trafficking in cocaine in an amount greater than 400 grams and one count of trafficking in cocaine base. Prior to trial, Bash filed a motion seeking the suppression of the narcotics discovered during the investigation. On June 11, 2013, a hearing was conducted on Bash's motion in the Berkeley County court of general sessions before the Honorable Stephanie P. McDonald, circuit court judge. At the conclusion of the hearing, the circuit court judge granted Bash's suppression motion. The State then timely filed a notice of appeal.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

On November 10, 2011, the drug enforcement unit of the Berkeley County Sheriff's Office received an anonymous tip that several men were engaged in drug activity at that time behind a residence located on Nelson Ferry Road in Moncks Corner, South Carolina. (R. pp. 20-21; p. 47; p. 54). In response, Sergeant Lee Holbrook and several other officers with the Berkeley County Sheriff's Office traveled to Nelson Ferry Road to follow-up on the tip and investigate whether drug activity was taking place, and they arrived at the residence identified in the tip within ten minutes. (R. pp. 20-21; pp. 45-46; p. 54).

After arriving at the residence, Sergeant Holbrook and the other officers noticed that Shine Bash Lane, a public road adjoining Nelson Ferry Road, ran along the side of the specified residence and ended towards the rear of the parcel of property on which the residence was located. (R. pp. 21-22; p. 89; p. 103). Based on the fact that the tip indicated the drug activity was occurring behind the residence, the officers drove down Shine Bash Lane, and, when they did so, Sergeant Holbrook observed three men standing in an open grassy area outside of the fenced-in backyard of the residence near a small utility shed, a broken-down car, and a parked black truck.<sup>1</sup> (R. p. 24; pp. 26-27; p. 31; p. 39). The officer then pulled his vehicle into the grassy area from the public road, parked approximately twenty feet behind the truck, exited his vehicle, approached the men, and asked them what was going on.<sup>2</sup> (R. pp. 27-30; p. 36; pp. 45-46; p. 55).

---

<sup>1</sup> Notably, the grassy area could be seen unobstructed from at least two public roadways and several residences other than the one identified in the anonymous tip. (R. p. 108).

<sup>2</sup> At the time he approached the men, Sergeant Holbrook and the other officers were wearing law enforcement attire. (R. p. 54).

Upon seeing Sergeant Holbrook approaching and only moments after the officer had exited his vehicle, one of the men standing in the grassy area threw down a bag containing a white powdery substance that the officer recognized to be cocaine while another man rapidly exited the passenger's side door of the truck and fled into a nearby wooded area. (R. pp. 30-31; p. 36; p. 46). In response, the officers with Sergeant Holbrook pursued the fleeing man while Sergeant Holbrook stayed with the other men in the grassy area to keep an eye on the bag of cocaine that had been thrown to the ground. (R. pp. 31-32; pp. 56-57).

As Sergeant Holbrook waited with the men, Respondent Walter Maurice Bash exited the driver's side door of the truck parked in the grassy area and asked the officer what was going on. (R. p. 32; p. 35). When Bash did so, Sergeant Holbrook asked him to step to the rear of the truck with the other individuals who remained in the grassy area, discussed the anonymous tip with them, and asked another officer to come and assist him. (R. pp. 32-33). When the other officer arrived, Sergeant Holbrook arrested the man who had thrown the bag of cocaine onto the ground, temporarily detained Bash and the others, and looked through the driver's side window of the truck to see if anyone else was in the vehicle. (R. pp. 32-34; p. 48). Inside, he saw a digital scale, plastic bags, cocaine, crack cocaine, and an open beer can in plain view. (R. p. 34; p. 51; pp. 90-93). Sergeant Holbrook then verified that the truck belonged to Bash and arrested him for possessing the narcotics found inside.<sup>3</sup> Subsequently, Bash was indicted for one count of trafficking

---

<sup>3</sup> The entire encounter between Bash and the law enforcement officers lasted approximately ten minutes. (R. p. 49).

in cocaine in an amount greater than 400 grams and one count of trafficking in cocaine base.<sup>4</sup> (R. pp. 35-36; pp. 48-49; pp. 85-88).

Thereafter, prior to trial, Bash filed a motion seeking the suppression of the narcotics discovered in his truck, and a hearing was conducted on the motion. (R. pp. 6-7). At the outset of the hearing, defense counsel argued for the narcotics to be suppressed based on an alleged violation of Bash's Fourth Amendment rights, contending that Bash's narcotics were discovered after officers unlawfully entered the curtilage of private property without a warrant before they observed the cocaine and crack cocaine in Bash's vehicle. (R. pp. 9-16). In response, the circuit court judge requested that the testimony of the officers involved in Bash's case be introduced so she could evaluate the officers' credibility, and Sergeant Holbrook and Sergeant Kimberly Milks of the Berkeley County Sheriff's Office testified about their investigation into the anonymous tip and their subsequent discovery of the cocaine and crack cocaine in Bash's truck.<sup>5</sup> (R. pp. 18-64).

Following the presentation of the officers' testimony, the circuit court judge indicated that she had reviewed both state and federal case law regarding anonymous tips and curtilage, including the United States Supreme Court's decision in Florida v. Jardines, \_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_, 133 S. Ct. 1409 (2013), and concluded that "this one's not even close." (R. p. 65). In reaching that conclusion, the circuit court judge found that an anonymous tip was not sufficient to permit an officer to enter the backyard area of a

---

<sup>4</sup> Following Bash's arrest, officers obtained a search warrant for the residence based on the discovery of the cocaine and crack cocaine in the truck and in the bag thrown onto the ground, and the search warrant was executed at 6:50 p.m. later that day. (R. p. 41; pp. 104-107). Inside the residence, officers located quantities of cash, another digital scale, marijuana, and a white powdery substance. (R. p. 61; pp. 104-107).

<sup>5</sup> During Sergeant Holbrook's testimony, the officer confirmed that his intentions in traveling to the residence identified in the tip were to approach the individuals who were there and speak with them about the anonymous tip he had received. (R. pp. 29-30). He further noted that no one ever directed him to leave at any point after he ventured into the grassy area located behind the residence. (R. p. 36).

residence “when your sole purpose for going there is to search it.” (R. p. 65). The circuit court judge further noted that she found the dissent from the South Carolina Supreme Court’s opinion in State v. Taylor, 401 S.C. 104, 736 S.E.2d 663 (2013), to be significant and noted that she believed the officers’ actions in Bash’s case were much more intrusive than the officers’ actions in Taylor. (R. pp. 66-67). The circuit court judge then indicated that she intended to suppress the narcotics but invited the solicitor to attempt to convince her not to do so. (R. pp. 67-68).

Thereafter, the solicitor argued that the officers’ actions were entirely proper because the grassy area where the officers approached Bash and his associates was not part of the curtilage of the residence and, instead, was an open field. (R. p. 68). Furthermore, even assuming the grassy area had been part of the curtilage of the home, the solicitor asserted that the officers’ actions were still proper because they were permitted to approach the individuals standing in the grassy area to make contact with them in a reasonable manner just as they were permitted to approach the door of the residence to conduct a “knock and talk.” (R. p. 68).

After listening to the solicitor’s contentions, the circuit court judge inquired if the officers were going onto the property to speak with someone or were going there to hunt for drugs. (R. p. 68). The solicitor responded that the testimony of the officers established that the officers entered onto the property for investigative purposes and to speak with the individuals located there about the anonymous tip. (R. pp. 68-69). Furthermore, the solicitor noted that law enforcement officers in general are permitted to go anywhere a private citizen might go to engage in a consensual encounter and compared Bash’s case to the facts and circumstances from the South Carolina Supreme Court’s decision in State v. Wright, 391 S.C. 436, 706 S.E.2d 324 (2011). (R. pp. 71-72).

However, after acknowledging the decision in Wright, the circuit court judge found that no exigent circumstances existed in Bash's case and that the officers in Bash's case could not approach Bash and the others in the backyard area of the residence, which she found to be part of the residence's curtilage, due to the fact that the officers had not observed anything suspicious from the street before approaching the men. (R. pp. 72-73). In rejecting the solicitor's contentions, the circuit court judge further explained:

I think you've made an excellent argument, but the tip was not enough to roll up in the backyard solely to search for drugs. And there's no reasonable interpretation of the officers' testimony other than that's why they were there. They were not there to politely ask the homeowner, Hey are you selling drugs out of your house? They were there to see if they could find any. And they should have gotten a warrant, although you can't get a warrant based on an anonymous tip, generally. You've got to have more.

(R. p. 73).

Thereafter, the solicitor again argued that the officers were not precluded from entering private property to the same extent as a private citizen would have been able to enter the property in attempting to speak with the individuals located there. (R. pp. 75-77). Furthermore, the solicitor again contended that the area where the officers located Bash and his confederates was not within the residence's curtilage and noted that it was outside of the residence's fence, it could be seen openly and unobstructed from two different public roads and other surrounding residences, and no attempt had been made to shield the area from observation by others. (R. pp. 75-77). However, the circuit court judge once again rejected the solicitor's arguments, indicated that she agreed with the dissenting justices in the Taylor case, and reaffirmed her decision to grant Bash's suppression motion. (R. p. 77). The State then timely appealed the circuit court judge's ruling.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review errors of law only. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). In Fourth Amendment search and seizure cases, the appellate court reviews the circuit court judge's determinations under a clear error standard and will affirm the circuit court judge's determinations if they are supported by any evidence. State v. Provet, 405 S.C. 101, 107, 747 S.E.2d 453, 456 (2013); see State v. Brockman, 339 S.C. 57, 66, 528 S.E.2d 661, 666 (2000) (“[W]e will review the trial court’s ruling like any other factual finding and reverse if there is clear error. We will affirm if there is any evidence to support the ruling.”). However, the appellate court is **not** barred from conducting its own review of the record to determine whether the circuit court judge’s decision in a search and seizure case is supported by the evidence. State v. Cheeks, 400 S.C. 329, 334, 733 S.E.2d 611, 614 (Ct. App. 2012); see Narcisco v. State, 397 S.C. 24, 28, 723 S.E.2d 369, 371 (2012) (“[T]his Court is not barred from conducting its own review of the record to determine whether the trial judge’s decision is supported by the evidence.”).

## ARGUMENT

### I.

**Did the circuit court judge err in granting Bash's motion to suppress his narcotics based on an alleged violation of his Fourth Amendment rights when law enforcement officers approached Bash in a reasonable manner in an open grassy area visible from multiple public roadways and situated outside of the curtilage of a residence located on the same parcel of property before observing Bash's narcotics in plain view through the window of his truck?**

Following a suppression hearing, the circuit court judge ruled that the narcotics discovered in Bash's truck should be excluded from trial after finding that Bash's Fourth Amendment rights were violated when the law enforcement officers in Bash's case allegedly impermissibly entered the curtilage of a residence to conduct a search.

Contrary to the circuit court judge's ruling, the evidence and testimony presented during the suppression hearing established that the grassy area where the officers approached Bash, which was an open area visible from multiple public roadways and located outside of a fence surrounding a residence located on the same parcel of property, was not so intimately connected to the residence to be considered a part of the residence's curtilage and, thus, be entitled to the same constitutional protections as the home itself. As the grassy area was not part of the residence's curtilage, the officers' entry into the grassy area did not violate Bash's constitutional rights. Therefore, the officers' subsequent discovery of Bash's narcotics in plain view inside of his truck was not the product of a violation of his Fourth Amendment rights. Accordingly, the circuit court judge erred in granting Bash's suppression motion based on her conclusion that the officers unconstitutionally entered the curtilage of a residence, and her ruling was clearly erroneous and unsupported by the evidence. The circuit court judge's ruling should be reversed, and Bash's case should be remanded for trial.

The Fourth Amendment protects “[t]he right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures.” U.S. Const. amend. IV. “The touchstone of the Fourth Amendment is reasonableness.” Florida v. Jimeno, 500 U.S. 248, 250 (1991). As a result, **only** unreasonable searches and seizures are constitutionally prohibited. State v. Foster, 269 S.C. 373, 378, 237 S.E.2d 589, 591 (1977); see Maryland v. Buie, 494 U.S. 325, 331 (1990) (“It goes without saying that the Fourth Amendment bars only unreasonable searches and seizures[.]”).

For purposes of the Fourth Amendment, a search occurs when “an expectation of privacy that society is prepared to consider reasonable is infringed.” United States v. Jacobsen, 466 U.S. 109, 113 (1984). Likewise, a seizure occurs when there is some meaningful interference with an individual's possessory interest in property or with the individual's freedom of movement. Id.; see Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 16, n. 16 (1968) (“Only when the officer, by means of physical force or show of authority, has in some way restrained the liberty of a citizen may we conclude that a ‘seizure’ has occurred.”).

In cases involving Fourth Amendment issues, the critical inquiry is “whether the challenged search or seizure violated the Fourth Amendment rights of a criminal defendant who seeks to exclude the evidence obtained during it.” Rakas v. Illinois, 439 U.S. 128, 140 (1978). “That inquiry in turn requires a determination of whether the disputed search and seizure has infringed an interest of the defendant which the Fourth Amendment was designed to protect.” Id.

Through its express language, the Fourth Amendment specifically delineates persons, houses, papers, and effects as constitutionally-protected areas. Florida v. Jardines, \_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_, 133 S. Ct. 1409, 1414 (2013). Thus, the Fourth Amendment unquestionably protects an individual's home from unreasonable governmental intrusion,

and those protections extend to the home's curtilage. Id. at 1414-1415. "At common law, the curtilage is the area to which extends the intimate activity associated with the 'sanctity of a man's home and the privacies of life[.]'" Oliver v. United States, 466 U.S. 170, 180 (1980) (citation omitted). In determining whether a particular area is part of the curtilage of a home, the following four factors are highly relevant: (1) the proximity of the area claimed to be curtilage to the home; (2) whether the area is included within an enclosure surrounding the home; (3) the nature of the uses to which the area is put; and (4) the steps taken by the resident to protect the area from observation by people passing by. United States v. Dunn, 480 U.S. 294, 301 (1987). However, "th[o]se factors are useful analytical tools only to the degree that, in any given case, they bear upon the centrally relevant consideration – whether the area in question is so intimately tied to the home itself that it should be placed under the home's 'umbrella' of Fourth Amendment protection." Id.

Significantly though, outside of a home and the home's curtilage, the Fourth Amendment does **not** prohibit law enforcement officers from conducting investigations on private property. Jardines, 133 S. Ct. at 1414. Even if a particular area intruded upon is located on private property, governmental intrusion upon that area does not constitute an unreasonable search and is not constitutionally prohibited if the area is an open field. Id.; see Hester v. United States, 265 U.S. 57, 59 (1924) ("[T]he special protection accorded by the Fourth Amendment to the people in their 'persons, houses, papers and effects,' is not extended to the open fields. The distinction between the latter and the house is as old as the common law."). The term "open field" can include "any unoccupied or undeveloped area outside of the curtilage[.]" and an area can be considered an open field even if it is not open and not a field. Oliver, 466 U.S. at 177. Critically,

“open fields do not provide the setting for those intimate activities that the [Fourth] Amendment is intended to shelter from government interference or surveillance.” Id. at 179. Accordingly, “an individual has no legitimate expectation that open fields will remain free from warrantless intrusion by government officers.” Id. at 181.

In the case sub judice, the circuit court judge concluded that the grassy area where the officers approached Bash and the other men was part of the curtilage of the residence and based her decision to grant Bash’s suppression motion on that conclusion. However, contrary to the circuit court judge’s determination, the evidence and testimony presented during the suppression hearing established that the grassy area was **not** so intimately connected to the residence to be considered a part of the residence’s curtilage and, instead, was an open field. Because the grassy area was not part of the residence’s curtilage, the officers did not impermissibly intrude upon a constitutionally-protected area when they approached Bash in the grassy area and, thus, did not violate Bash’s constitutional rights prior to discovering Bash’s narcotics.

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