ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Berkeley County

Stephanie P. McDonald, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

SEP 02 2014

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

APPELLANT,

V.

WALTER M. BASH,

RESPONDENT

Appellate Case No. 2013-001430

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, S. C. 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT.

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

ARGUMENT

The lower court correctly granted Bash's motion to suppress where law enforcement, acting on an anonymous tip and with the intent to search for drugs, entered the backyard of a residence without a warrant because the backyard was curtilage, not open fields, and therefore, protected by the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and the officer's exceeded any implied license by approaching the backyard.

Relevant facts

Respondent moved to suppress the evidence uncovered during the illegal search of his truck. R. 6, lines 13-24. Respondent was sitting in his parked pickup truck at a barbecue in the backyard at his friend's house when the police arrived. R. 9, line 22 – R. 10, line 8. Respondent argued that the search and seizure was in violation of the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution, and therefore, the items seized should be suppressed. R. 10, lines 14-24; R. 74, lines 20-21. Respondent noted the officers "suited up" prior to going to the residence. The officers saw no suspicious behavior until they were physically in the yard. R. 74, lines 1-16. Respondent argued the area where he was sitting in his parked pickup truck was within the curtilage of the home and protected under the Fourth Amendment. Further, Respondent cited Florida v. Jardines, ___ U.S. ___, 133 S.Ct. 1409 (2013) to support his position that the search was illegal. R. 11, line 5 – R. 12, line 1.

The prosecutor appeared to argue two theories for admissibility. First, he argued the area where Holbrook and Milks encountered Appellant was not "part of the curtilage"; rather, this area was "considered open fields." R. 68, lines 5-7. The prosecutor argued that the home's backyard was open fields because there was a fence

around the house and “this particular property [was] beyond the fence” and open to two public roads.” R. 75, line 22 – R. 76, line 2.

Alternatively, if the area were part of the curtilage, he analogized the encounter to a “knock and talk.” R. 68, lines 7-11. He argued that nothing precludes an officer “from intruding on private property where a private citizen could have intruded.” R. 75, lines 2-8.

At the conclusion of the pretrial hearing, Judge McDonald granted Appellant’s motion to suppress relying upon Florida v. Jardines, ___ U.S. ___, 133 S.Ct. 1409 (2013). After reading the materials supplied by the prosecution and defense and conducting independent research, she concluded “this one’s not even close.” She held that “[a]n anonymous tip is not enough to allow you to roll up in somebody’s backyard when your sole purpose for going there is to search it.” R. 65, lines 12-22. She found the backyard where Holbrooks and Milks apprehended Appellant was part of the curtilage based upon State v. Dickey, 394 S.C. 491, 716 S.E.2d 97 (2011). R. 73, lines 8-11. Judge McDonald explained there were no exigent circumstances present and that Holbrooks and Milks did not observe anything suspicious from the street. R. 73, lines 3-7. Essentially, Judge McDonald found “they suited up and went into the curtilage of this lady’s house based on an anonymous tip alone.” R. 81, lines 9-11.

Judge McDonald made a credibility determination as well: “[T]he tip was not enough to roll up in the backyard solely to search for drugs. And there’s no reasonable interpretation of the officers’ testimony other than that’s why they were there. They were not there to politely ask the homeowner, Hey, are you selling drugs out of your house? They were there to see if they could find any.” R. 73, lines 13-21.

Discussion

The Fourth Amendment provides that the “right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated.” U.S. Const. amend. IV. Any police intrusion on private property for the purpose of obtaining information is a search under the Fourth Amendment. United States v. Jones, 565 U.S. ___, 132 S.Ct. 945, 949 (2012); see also McHam v. State, 404 S.C. 465, 477-80, 746 S.E.2d 41, 48-49 (2013) (finding officer’s slight intrusion into a vehicle was a search under the Fourth Amendment). In an appeal from a motion to suppress evidence based on Fourth Amendment grounds, an appellate court’s review is limited to determining whether any evidence supports the circuit court’s decision. State v. Bowman, 366 S.C. 485, 501, 623 S.E.2d 378, 386 (2005). The appellate court may only reverse where there is clear error. State v. Brockman, 339 S.C. 57, 528 S.E.2d 661 (2000); State v. Jones, 364 S.C. 51, 610 S.E.2d 846 (Ct. App. 2005). The evidence in the record clearly supports the circuit court’s ruling that the backyard was curtilage protected by the Fourth Amendment and that the officers exceeded any implied license by approaching the backyard of the residence.

A. The police intruded upon the curtilage of the home, which is protected by the Fourth Amendment, by entering the backyard.

The Fourth Amendment’s protection to be free from police intrusion and unreasonable searches and seizures extends to the curtilage of the home. Oliver v. United States, 466 U.S. 170, 181 (1984). “The protection afforded the curtilage is essentially a protection of families and personal privacy in an area intimately linked to the home, both physically and psychologically, where privacy expectations are most heightened.” California v. Ciraolo, 476 U.S. 207 (1986). A warrantless search of a home’s curtilage

implicates the core of the Fourth Amendment and presumptively is unreasonable. Bleavins v. Bartels, 422 F.3d 445, 451 (7th Cir. 2005). “The curtilage of a residence means the land immediately surrounding and associated with the home, including the backyard, although the question of where the curtilage ends is determined on a case-by-case basis.” Ann K. Wooster, Search and Seizure: Reasonable Expectation of Privacy in Backyards, 62 A.L.R.6th 413. Curtilage includes areas, such as the backyard, that are intimately connected with activities of the home. Bleavins, 422 F.3d at 452.

“At common law, the curtilage is the area to which extends the intimate activity associated with the ‘sanctity of a man’s home and the privacies of life.’” Oliver, 466 U.S. at 180 (quoting Boyd v. United States, 116 U.S. 616, 630 (1886)); see also Rogers v. Pendleton, 249 F.3d 279 (4th Cir. 2001). Curtilage is defined “by reference to the factors that determine whether an individual reasonably may expect that an area immediately adjacent to the home will remain private.” Oliver, 466 U.S. at 180. “No single factor determines whether an individual may claim under the Fourth Amendment that a place should be free of government intrusion not authorized by warrant.” Id. at 177. “In assessing the degree to which a search infringes upon individual privacy, the Court has given weight to such factors as the intention of the Framers of the Fourth Amendment, the uses to which the individual has put a location, and our societal understanding that certain areas deserve the most scrupulous protection from government invasion.” Id. at 178 (internal citations omitted). Additionally, the Court held:

that curtilage questions should be resolved with particular reference to four factors: the proximity of the area claimed to be curtilage to the home, whether the area is included within an enclosure surrounding the home, the nature of the uses to which the area is put, and the steps taken by the resident to protect the area from observation by people passing by.

United States v. Dunn, 480 U.S. 294, 301 (1987). However, the factors are merely “useful analytical tools only to the degree that, in any given case, they bear upon the centrally relevant consideration – whether the area in question is so intimately tied to the home itself that it should be placed under the home’s ‘umbrella’ of Fourth Amendment protection.” Id. In short, the inquiry can be boiled down to one question – “whether the government’s intrusion infringes upon the personal and societal values protected by the Fourth Amendment.” Oliver, 466 U.S. at 182-183.

In contrast to curtilage, “the special protection accorded by the Fourth Amendment to the people in their ‘persons, houses, papers, and effects,’ is not extended to the open fields.” Hester v. United States, 265 U.S. 57, 58 (1924). The Oliver Court concluded that “an individual has no legitimate expectation that open fields will remain free from warrantless intrusion by government officers.” Oliver, 466 U.S. at 181. “The ‘open fields’ doctrine ... permits police officers to enter and search a field without a warrant.” Id. at 173. The Oliver Court reaffirmed the rule announced in Hester, supra, that “an individual may not legitimately demand privacy for activities conducted out of doors in fields, except in the area immediately surrounded the home.” Id. The Court explained that “open fields do not provide the setting for those intimate activities that the Amendment is intended to shelter from government interference or surveillance.” Id. at 179.

In a case similar to the one at issue, in Florida v. Jardines, ___ U.S. ___, 133 S.Ct. 1409 (2013), the police had “an unverified tip” that Jardines was growing marijuana in his home. Id. at 1413. Without a warrant, the police took a drug dog into the curtilage of Jardines’ house and on his front porch. Id. The dog indicated marijuana was present at “the base of the front door.” Id. The police then used the dog’s activity to obtain a warrant. Id.

The Court ruled this police activity violated the Fourth Amendment. Id. at 1417-18. The majority decided the case solely on property rights grounds without resorting to the Katz¹ test. Id. at 1417 (“[W]e need not decide whether the officers’ investigation of Jardines’ home violated his expectation of privacy under Katz.”); see also Jones, *supra*; Bleavins, 422 F.3d at 450 (holding that “a property-based concept – curtilage – remains important in evaluating privacy interests”). The Court explained that the analysis in Katz concerning a reasonable expectation of privacy “may add to the baseline” protection of property rights, but “it does not subtract anything from the Amendment’s protections ‘when the Government **does** engage in [a] physical intrusion of a constitutionally protected area.’” Jardines, 133 S.Ct. at 1414 (quoting United States v. Knotts, 460 U.S. 276, 286 (1983)(Brennan, J. concurring in the judgment))(emphasis in original). The Court explained:

The officers were gathering information in an area belonging to Jardines and immediately surrounding his house – in the curtilage of the house, which we have held enjoys protection as part of the home itself. And they gathered that information by physically entering and occupying the area to engage in conduct not explicitly or implicitly permitted by the homeowner.

Id. at 1414.

In discussing the curtilage, the Jardines Court held that the right to be free from unreasonable government intrusion in a home “would be of little practical value if the state’s agents could stand in a home’s porch or side garden and trawl for evidence with impunity; the right to retreat would be significantly diminished if the police could enter a man’s property to observe his repose from just outside the front window.” Id. The “area ‘immediately surrounding and associated with the home’” is the curtilage and is “‘part of the

¹ Katz v. United States, 389 U.S. 347 (1967).

home itself for Fourth Amendment purposes.” Id. (quoting Oliver, 466 U.S. at 180). The “area around the home is ‘intimately linked to the home, both physically and psychologically,’ and is where ‘privacy expectations are most heightened.’” Id. at 1415 (quoting Ciraolo, 476 U.S. at 213). The Court held the front porch was “the classic exemplar of an area adjacent to the home and ‘to which the activity of the home life extends.’” Id. (quoting Oliver, 466 U.S. at 182, n.12).

Numerous courts have found the backyard to be protected by the Fourth Amendment as part of the home’s curtilage. See e.g., Bleavins, 422 F.3d at 452 (stating that “[a]reas that are intimately connected with the ... activities of the home include, for example, backyards.”)(internal citations omitted); Lundstrom v. Romero, 616 F.3d 1108, 1128-1129 (10th Cir. 2010)(having “little trouble finding that Lundstrom’s backyard qualified as curtilage” where it “directly abut[ted] the rear of his house, was enclosed such that the officer had to go over a fence or open a gate to access it, was used in a manner typical of an ordinary residential backyard, and was protected from observation to an extent that prevented the neighbor from peering into it over the fence”); United States v. Struckman, 603 F.3d 731, 739 (9th Cir. 2010)(finding the “backyard – a small, enclosed yard adjacent to a home in a residential neighborhood” was “unquestionably such a clearly marked area to which the activity of the home life extends and so is curtilage subject to Fourth Amendment protection”)(internal citations omitted); Feller v. Township of West Bloomfield, 767 F.Supp.2d 769, 774 (E.D. Mich. 2011)(finding the warrantless entry onto the back yard of property to post notices to stop illegal work violated the Fourth Amendment); State v. Kruse, 306 S.W.3d 603 (Mo. Ct. App. 2010)(suppressing evidence discovered by law enforcement entering the defendant’s backyard at 12:21 a.m. to guard

against anyone running from the home when police were knocking on the front door despite the lack of gates to hinder entrance into the backyard and the presence of a well-travelled route from the driveway to the rear of the property); State v. Frizzelle, 89 S.E.2d 725, 726 (N.C. 1955)(finding that “curtilage fo the home will ordinarily be construed to include at least the yard around the dwelling house as well as the area occupied by barns, cribs, and other outbuildings”).

In State v. Morsman, 394 So.2d 408, 408 (Fla. 1981), the Supreme Court of Florida found a police officer conducted an illegal search and seizure when he walked into the backyard and seized marijuana plants. Morsman’s neighbor told another neighbor that marijuana plants were in Morsman’s backyard. The second neighbor called the police. Id. An officer went to Morsman’s home to investigate the complaint. The officer knocked on the front door. When no one answered, the officer walked around the house and saw marijuana plants growing in the backyard. Id. The Florida Supreme Court held “[t]he officer had no right to be in [Morsman]’s backyard.” Id. Although the officer going to the front door to investigate did not infringe upon Morsman’s right to privacy, the officer entering the backyard violated the Fourth Amendment. Id. at 409.

Ample evidence supports the trial judge’s finding that the backyard where the police trespassed, after “suiting up,” was part of the curtilage of the residence. By all accounts, it was the backyard to the home, and the officers knew they were entering private property when they drove into the backyard. The officers did not use an existing driveway to make their entrance into the backyard. Thus, even the officers knew the area was curtilage when they made their illegal entry. Consideration of the factors enunciated by the Supreme Court leads to the same result. First, the area was in very close proximity to the home. Although

no one testified as to the exact distance, the photographs show the area was close to the home. See Defendant's Exhibit #2; Defendant's Exhibit #4; Defendant's Exhibit #5. Several courts have recognized the importance of considering whether the area in question is in a rural, urban, or suburban setting. See United States v. Johnson, 256 F.3d 895, 902 (9th Cir. 2001)(citing United States v. Reilly, 76 F.3d 1271, 1277 (2d Cir. 1996); United States v. Acosta, 965 F.2d 1248, 1256 (3d Cir. 1992); United States v. Seidel, 794 F.Supp. 1098, 1103 (S.D. Fl. 1992)). The Ninth Circuit recognized that in rural areas, the curtilage of a home may extend farther than in urban or suburban areas. The Court explained "[t]he realities of rural country life dictate that distances between outbuildings will be greater than on urban or suburban properties and yet still encompass activities intimately associated with the home; this is the nature of the 'farmstead.'" Johnson, 256 F.3d at 902. The area in question is rural. The curtilage, therefore, extends greater than in more urban areas.

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